NUMBER 4

CMI REPORT

AUGUST 2021



Photo: EU/ECHO/Peter Biro. (CC BY-NC-ND 2.0)

AUTHOR

Magnus Hatlebakk Chr. Michelsen Institute Norwegian development assistance in support of social safety nets



TABLE OF CONTENTS

24

4. Conclusions

iii	Preface
iii	Acknowledgements
iv	Summary
1	Introduction
2	1. Mapping of Norwegian ODA in support of social safety nets
3	1.1 Norwegian support of social safety nets within core ODA sector
7	1.2 Imputed aid via multilateral organizations
11	2. Classification of Norwegian ODA in support of social safety nets
11	2.1 Emergency vs long-term assistance
11	2.2 Targeted or universal programs
12	2.3 Conditional versus unconditional transfers
13	2.4 Cash vs kind
14	2.5 Multifaceted programs
15	3. Knowledge gaps
15	3.1 Conditional transfers
17	3.2 Cash transfers and long-term development
19	3.3 Gender programming
22	3.4 Digital solutions

PREFACE

This report is commissioned by Norad, the Norwegian development cooperation agency, in response to their need for a mapping of Norwegian Official Development Assistance (ODA) in support of social safety nets. The mapping was commissioned to cover relevant DAC-codes, including core support to multilateral organizations, and to have three parts: 1) Mapping of Norwegian ODA for the years 2015–2019 to identify the channels used. 2) Classification of the support by type of support (targeted/universal, conditional/unconditional). 3) Identification of knowledge gaps. In the third part the report focuses on selected knowledge gaps identified in a previous report by Norad on social safety nets published in November 2020.¹ The report is an independent product that represent the analysis and views of the author, and not Norad.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks to Cindy Patricia Quijada Robles and Espen Villanger for useful comments.

Magnus Hatlebakk CMI, Bergen, August 2021

¹ www.norad.no/om-bistand/publikasjon/2020/sosiale-sikkerhetsnett-og-kontantoverforinger---en-kunnskaps-og-erfaringsoppsummering

SUMMARY

This report is commissioned by Norad as a mapping of Norwegian development assistance in support of social safety nets. It was found that a large share of the support comes in the form of emergency aid via the World Food Program. There has been a transition over time towards more cash transfers, and thus a need for digital solutions in terms of individual accounts and potentially a need for integration with government registers. The mapping was followed by a discussion of selected research findings that may have relevance for the design of Norwegian assistance to safety nets: 1) The choice between conditional and unconditional transfers should depend on the aim of the program. If the aim is to relax liquidity constraints, or help people in need, then unconditional transfers is the right choice, but if the aim is also to incentivize people to send their children to school, or utilize health services, then well-designed conditional transfers will be in place. 2) In remote areas there may be village level poverty traps where the extreme poor meet multiple constraints, and a combination of interventions is necessary to lift them out of poverty in terms of so-called cash-plus, or multifaceted, development programs. 3) A cash transfer will only have an impact on girls' welfare, beyond the effect via increased household income, if it strengthens the female bargaining position within the household. A cash transfer alone may not be sufficient, and the transfers may have to be combined with other policy instruments, such as programs to strengthen female political participation, selfhelp groups, entrepreneurship programs, female quotas in hiring processes, information campaigns, inheritance rights, and the right to divorce.

INTRODUCTION

We *first* report on the actual disbursements of Norwegian official development assistance (ODA) to programs that have a social safety net component. This is not straightforward as these projects are found under different DAC codes (sectors) in the official statistics. We have identified the main DAC sectors, and report all aid to these sectors in combination with short discussions of the most relevant projects within each sector. In the *second section* we discuss how the Norwegian support fit in with the standard classification of social safety nets, that is, conditional/unconditional, cash vs in-kind, emergency vs long-term, and targeted vs universal transfers. We shall see that emergency assistance is the main category of Norwegian aid to social safety nets. The *third section* will attempt to map knowledge gaps regarding the impacts of programs in support of social safety nets. The literature is by now extensive, including numerous reviews, thus the focus will be on issues that we believe are important for Norwegian assistance, based on the mapping in sections one and two. The focus will be on how conflicting research findings may be explained by variation in context and type of program and maybe more importantly variation in research questions and research design.

1. MAPPING OF NORWEGIAN ODA IN SUPPORT OF SOCIAL SAFETY NETS

In the mapping of Norwegian support, we apply the World Bank definition of social safety net programs:²

Cash transfers and last resort programs, noncontributory social pensions, other cash transfers programs, conditional cash transfers, in-kind food transfers (food stamps and vouchers, food rations, supplementary feeding, and emergency food distribution), school feeding, other social assistance programs (housing allowances, scholarships, fee waivers, health subsidies, and other social assistance) and public works programs (cash for work and food for work).

With the focus on transfers to households this excludes other programs that provide safety for the poor, such as insurance, credit, health, education, infrastructure and employment generating programs, except when these programs have a transfer component, such as cash or food for work programs.

In many ways direct transfers to households reflect a development strategy that is yet to take hold in Norwegian development cooperation. We shall see below that transfers are used primarily in emergency situations (note that emergency aid is included in the definition above). Still, we shall see that the support is regularly part of broader development programs that can, potentially with some changes, contribute to long-term development. We will discuss the potential trade-offs, or synergies, between emergency aid and long-term development to a larger extent in the third section.

To identify relevant DAC-sectors we searched and looked through the Norwegian aid statistics,³ and identified the relevant DAC-codes as:

DAC 112.50: School feeding DAC 160.10: Social protection

DAC 430.72: Household food security programs

DAC 720.40: Emergency food assistance

DAC 910: Administration costs/multilateral

DAC 910 will be discussed in section 1.2, while section 1.1 discusses the four other core sectors. In addition to these, DAC 520.10 (food assistance) is in theory relevant, but we found only small amounts in support of staff working for the World Food Programme (WFP). DAC-160.20 (employment creation) includes some cash for work programs, but they constitute only a small share of the total disbursements within this DAC sector, as the focus is on job creation: We find NOK 45 million disbursed over two years to a UNDP led cash for work program on the Gaza strip, while the large sums are for skill development and job creation, with ILO as the main partner (NOK 405 million out of NOK 747 million to DAC.160.20-employment creation over the last six years). DAC 720.10 (material relief assistance and services) is a large sector for Norwegian ODA (NOK 2.5 to 3 billion per year), but the largest disbursements are for humanitarian support in Syria, and based on the project descriptions it appears that relatively small amounts are transfers to households, so we also exclude this DAC sector from the tables below. DAC 430.10 (other multisector aid) includes some very large multi-donor funds that have some smaller social safety net components. It will give a biased representation to include these large sums in the tables below, as most of the funds will not be for social safety net programs. The two largest ones are the Afghanistan Reconstruction Trust Fund (NOK 270 million in 2020), and the World Bank multipartner Fund for Somalia (NOK 142 million in 2020).

² See under details here: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/per_sa_allsa.cov_pop_tot

³ https://resultater.norad.no/detaljert-data

⁴ www.artf.af/sites/default/files/ARTF/ARTF%20Scorecard%202020_0.pdf

 $^{5 \}hspace{1.5cm} www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2020/10/01/reengaging-with-somalia-for-long-lasting-development-outcomes and the source of the$

1.1 Norwegian support of social safety nets within core ODA sectors

As discussed above, we have identified four sectors where many projects have components that can be considered as support to social safety nets according to the World Bank definition discussed above. We summarize the total amounts disbursed to these DAC sectors in Table 1.1, while keeping in mind that not all projects will have components in support of social safety nets, and if they have such components, then the share of the budget actually being used for transfers to households may be small. It is beyond the scope of this report to go into project documents to classify each and every project. When feasible, based on the description in the aid statistics and with reference to easily available online information on the projects, we will discuss whether the largest disbursements have social safety net components.

Table 1.1. Norwegian aid for social protection (NOK million)

Sector	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Total
DAC 112.50		2.2	5.8	37.2	76.6	4.1	125.8
DAC 160.10	97.5	62.6	50.8	69.5	81.1	163.2	524.6
DAC 430.72		12.0	96.0	86.7	93.0	103.9	391.5
DAC 720.40	588.6	549.3	636.4	530.9	445.2	551.1	3301.5
Sum	686.1	623.8	783.1	687.1	619.3	818.1	4217.6

Emergency food assistance (DAC 720.40)

As we can see from Table 1.1 the largest sums go to emergency food assistance. Table 1.2 shows the detailed disbursements to different partners, with WFP as the main partner (NOK 2.5 billion, that is, 76% of the NOK 3.3 billion were allocated through WFP). Most of this (NOK 1.5 billion), in turn, goes to the Middle-East (mainly Syria, Yemen, Lebanon and Jordan).

Table 1.2. Norwegian emergency food assistance - DAC 720.40 (NOK million)

Organization	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Total
WFP	468.4	338.5	533.6	406.8	363.5	400.5	2511.3
FAO	60.0	88.7	35.0	92.3	70.0	89.5	435.5
Caritas	22.0	33.0	21.0	5.2	2.4	40.0	123.7
Norwegian Church Aid	0	25.0	32.1	15.5	5.0	0	77.4
Norwegian People's Aid	9.0	31.0	14.2	6.7	4.7	0	65.6
Save the Children Norway	25.8	13.1	0	0	0	0	38.6
UNDP	0	20.0	0	0	0	0	19.6
Others	3.5	0	0	5.0	0	21.2	29.8
DAC 720.40	588.6	549.3	636.4	530.9	445.2	551.1	3301.5

⁶ For example under DAC 720.40 there are 106 agreement numbers in the statistics.

Other partners are small in comparison, with the Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) (NOK 435.5 million in total over the six-years period) and Caritas (NOK 123.7 million over the six-years period) as the largest. As much as NOK 401 million (92%) of the disbursements via FAO goes to their Emergency Livelihood Response Program in South-Sudan. The program gives direct support to households, but primarily in terms of inputs (mostly seeds) to food production, there is, however, a small food voucher scheme as well. At a general level, FAO states that cash and vouchers are their preferred method of assistance, as it enables recipients to make their own choices. Caritas's emergency food assistance is focusing on land-locked African countries in conflict (the largest disbursements go to Central African Republic, Niger and South-Sudan). Turning to the largest partner within emergency food assistance, WFP, Table 1.3 reports on the disbursements by country.

Table 1.3. Norwegian emergency food assistance - DAC 720.40 via WFP (NOK million)

Recipient country	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Total
Yemen	10.0	74.0	103.0	93.0	50.5	56.0	386.5
Syria/regional*	235.0	26.0	50.0	18.0	18.0	0.0	347.0
Syria	30.0	31.0	81.2	45.0	50.0	62.0	299.2
Lebanon	0.0	0.0	34.4	53.5	76.5	50.0	214.4
Jordan	15.0	15.0	55.0	50.0	37.0	26.0	198.0
South Sudan	25.0	59.0	45.0	20.0	7.5	12.5	169.0
Malawi	23.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.0	52.7	79.7
CAR	21.0	0.0	25.0	10.0	10.0	8.0	74.0
Afghanistan	0.0	30.0	10.0	18.0	9.0	6.0	73.0
DRC	0.0	0.0	20.0	15.0	11.0	24.0	70.0
Rest	109.4	103.5	110.0	84.3	90.0	103.3	600.5
WFP-sum	468.4	338.5	533.6	406.8	363.5	400.5	2511.3

 $^{^{\}ast}$ Coded as Middle East Regional, but most is linked to the conflict in Syria

We note that there was a very large (NOK 235 million) disbursement to the Syria conflict in 2015. There is not much information to be found on the program components, but it appears to be part of the Syria Response Plan, which in turn seems to include food-rations as one of its components. The emergency food assistance to Syria has continued, and in 2020 includes school lunches and food assistance to vulnerable groups. The other large recipients of Norwegian emergency food assistance via the WFP are Syria's neighbors Lebanon and Jordan, as well as Yemen and South-Sudan. These are all part of the same large agreement with the WFP. The description of program components varies between countries, in Yemen, for example, the WFP support includes food assistance in kind

⁷ www.fao.org/emergencies/fao-in-action/projects/detail/en/c/1188915/

⁸ http://www.fao.org/emergencies/fao-in-action/cash-and-vouchers/en/

⁹ One important agreement is: https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/QZA-20/0053. We do not find much details on the program components, neither here nor on Caritas website, but the title says that it includes lifesaving food assistance.

¹⁰ This is QZA-12/0688-30 mentioned here: https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/QZA-12/0688.

¹¹ QZA-12/0688 is mentioned here, which in turn makes a reference to the Syria Response Plan, which in turn mention the need for food rations: https://fts.unocha.org/appeals/461/flows

¹² www.wfp.org/emergencies/syria-emergency

¹³ https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/QZA-18/0148.

and as vouchers, plus cash transfers in area where food markets are expected to work well.¹⁴ In general the WFP is deliberately shifting towards more cash transfers in their food assistance, ¹⁵ and at an even more general level, the WFP has a deliberate strategy of supporting local governments in their design and delivery of nationally led social protection systems.¹⁶ This includes adjustments to the local context in each country and situation.¹⁷

Household food security (DAC 430.72)

Under DAC 430.72, the Norwegian NGO the Development Fund is the main partner (NOK 202.3 million), out of the total of NOK 391.5 million. Most of this, in turn, goes to Ethiopia (NOK 96.8 million) as part of a broad program with many different components, but with a focus on agricultural production rather than transfers to households. There are many local partners, with some partners implementing both agricultural development projects (DAC 311) and food security projects, which include school meals. 19

Table 1.4. Suppo	rt for hous	ehold food s	ecurity - DA	C 430.72 (N	OK million)
Organ	nization	2015	2016	2017	2018

Organization	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Total
Development Fund	0	0.0	48.0	50.2	52.5	51.7	202.3
IFAD	0	0.0	32.0	20.0	20.0	20.0	92.0
CARE	0	10.0	14.0	7.6	13.4	15.0	60.0
Caritas	0	0.0	0.0	6.9	7.1	6.6	20.6
UNOPS	0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	10.6	10.6
Afghanistan Committee	0	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.0	0.0	6.0
DAC 430.72	0	12.0	96.0	86.7	93.0	103.9	391.5

The support via IFAD goes to its program for displaced people in Niger (NOK 92 million).²⁰ The focus is on supporting the livelihoods of displaced people. This is part of a multi-country program that has a temporary work component.²¹ CARE is also working in Niger (NOK 60 million) in support of agricultural development through what they name as a farmer centered research for development approach.²² We conclude that the multisector DAC 430.72 (food security) code include projects that have some smaller social safety net components.

Social protection (DAC 160.10)

Under DAC 160.10 the largest disbursements go to Save the Children Norway through a general agreement that covers many countries, since 2019 this has been named as the Leaving no child behind program.²³ Over the full period the largest disbursements have been to the organization's programs

¹⁴ www.wfp.org/emergencies/yemen-emergency

¹⁵ https://www.wfp.org/food-assistance

¹⁶ https://www.wfp.org/social-protection

¹⁷ For a recent strategy document, see: www.wfp.org/publications/world-food-programme-strategy-support-social-protection-2021

¹⁸ https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/QZA-16/0389

¹⁹ www.utviklingsfondet.no/en/how_we_work/ethiopia

²⁰ https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/NER-17/0004

²¹ https://www.ifad.org/en/farms

²² https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/NER-15/0001

²³ https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/QZA-18/0373

in Myanmar, Somalia, Zimbabwe, and Ethiopia. These are child protection programs, with some transfer components according to the results framework, that is, school scholarships/conditional cash transfers, and school feeding programs.²⁴ The second largest disbursement was to the Ministry of Finance in Tanzania, with all NOK 76.8 million disbursed in 2020 for the Ministry's Social Action Fund to implement a Productive Social Safety Net program with a cash transfer component according to the project description.²⁵

Table 1.5. Support for social protection - DAC 160.10 (NOK million)

Organization	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Total
Save the Children Norway	19.5	21.8	23.5	19.0	15.4	14.1	113.5
Tanzania Ministry of Finance	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	76.8	76.8
UNICEF	2.0	0.0	0.0	20.0	39.0	0.0	61.0
Atlas Alliance	22.1	5.0	4.6	4.8	4.3	0.0	40.7
University of Nordland	6.0	7.2	8.2	8.1	5.7	0.0	35.2
World Bank	0.0	0.0	2.7	0.0	0.0	30.0	32.7
SOS Children's Villages	10.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	10.0	9.7	30.0
Other	37.6	28.6	11.7	17.5	6.8	32.5	134.7
DAC 160.10	97.5	62.6	50.8	69.5	81.1	163.2	524.6

UNICEF received NOK 40 million over 2018-19 for its global thematic fund for social inclusion. These are so-called soft earmarked funds. ²⁶ The results framework indicates that there may be some cash-transfer components. ²⁷ The Atlas Alliance focuses on inclusion of people with disabilities, with disbursements going through broad programs, ²⁸ and core partner countries being Malawi and Zambia. We find no clear household transfer component. Nordland University has received NOK 35 million for retraining of military officers in Ukraine, illustrating that also under this DAC code not all disbursements are for social safety nets in the strict sense defined above. The World Bank received NOK 30 million in 2020 for a Covid program on the West Bank in Palestine, with a cash transfer and a cash for work component. ²⁹ The support for SOS Children's Villages appears to be general programs of capacity building among local partners, with no clear household transfer component. ³⁰ Main partner countries are Malawi and Zambia. In conclusion, not all programs coded as social protection (DAC 160.10) have clear social safety nets components.

²⁴ www.jotform.com/uploads/2sxnorad/201333352822344/4748558016765963089/Leaving%20No%20 Child%20Behind%20 rapport%202019.pdf

²⁵ https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/TAN-18/0004

²⁶ www.unicef.org/partnerships/funding/thematic-funding

²⁷ https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/QZA-18/0004

²⁸ https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/QZA-15/0470

²⁹ https://projects.worldbank.org/en/projects-operations/project-detail/P174078

³⁰ https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/QZA-19/0266

School feeding (DAC 112.50)

Under DAC 112.50 the main disbursements are the NOK 95.8 million in 2018-29 for the WFP school meals programs in Malawi and Mali.³¹

Table 1.6. Support for school feeding - DAC 112.50 (NOK million)

Organization	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Total
WFP		0.0	0.0	30.9	64.9	0.0	95.8
Development Fund		2.2	5.8	6.0	1.9	4.1	20.0
UNDP		0.0	0.0	0.0	9.5	0.0	9.5
DAC 112.50		2.2	5.8	37.2	76.6	4.1	125.8

UNDP also had a program in Malawi, in 2019, which was for homegrown school meals, and thus intends to help developing the local agricultural production.³² There is little detail on what this means in reality. Ideally food is grown and potentially prepared by the children themselves, or purchased from local farmers, but with the meals served at school. The Development Fund also ran a homegrown school feeding project, in Ethiopia, where they appear to buy food from local farmers.³³

Conclusions regarding direct ODA to social safety nets

Total disbursements to the four core DAC sectors over the six-years period added up to NOK 4.2 billion, out of which NOK 2.5 billion (60%) was emergency food assistance (DAC 720.40) via the World Food Program, with NOK 1.1 billion (25% of the total) going to Syria, Lebanon and Jordan. There is limited information in the public domain on how these funds are spent beyond general statements saying that food is allocated to households.³⁴ The other relevant DAC sectors include support for food security (DAC 430.72) with a focus on agricultural development, potentially with some smaller social safety net components. The social protection (DAC 160.10) programs focus on child protection, with some safety net components in terms of scholarships and school feeding. Other social protection programs have cash transfer components, while some programs, including programs for disabled people, appear not to have social safety net components. Finally, there is support for school feeding programs (DAC 112.50), which in some cases are combined with agricultural development programs. Economists have favored cash-transfers as the most direct way of lifting people above the poverty line. The safety net programs supported by Norway do not appear to have permanent poverty reduction as the immediate goal. Instead the transfer programs are intended to help people through emergencies, where most of the funds go, or in combination with other instruments to increase school enrollment or support agricultural development.

1.2 Imputed aid via multilateral organizations

A large part of Norwegian ODA is allocated as core support (DAC-code 910) to cover administrative costs for multilateral organizations. These organizations have their own development programs that are coded with other DAC-codes. One may argue that Norwegian ODA in support of the administrative

³¹ https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/MWI-19/0009

³² https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/MWI-17/0004

³³ https://www.utviklingsfondet.no/en/how_we_work/ethiopia/food_security_and_nutrition

³⁴ https://www.wfp.org/emergencies/syria-emergency.

costs of the multilaterals are ultimately supporting the sector-wise programs run by the multilaterals. It is common to calculate this so-called imputed aid by calculating the split of DAC-910 ODA from a donor, such as Norway, that goes to various sectors (as defined by DAC-codes) implemented by the multilaterals. This implies to multiply Norwegian ODA to a multilateral organization with the share of that organization's own ODA to each sector. We have done this calculation for the two largest sectors from Table 1.1, DAC-160.10-social protection and DAC-720.40-emergency food assistance. For school feeding there is basically no imputed aid (NOK 0.14 million via FAO in 2019). For DAC-430.72 there is only full report in the Credit Reporting System for 2019 (despite this sector code being used in the Norwegian system earlier). For 2019, the total amount of imputed aid to 430.72 was only NOK 5.8 million (via UNDP, WFP and FAO), a relatively small amount as compared to the NOK 93 million of direct aid reported in Table 1.1.

For DAC 160.10 we find that the total imputed aid to the sector, as reported in Table 1.7, is larger than the direct aid reported in Table 1.5 when we consider the shorter time period.

Table 1.7. Imputed aid for social protection (ODA-160.10) via multilaterals (NOK million)

Organization	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	Total
IDA	47.0	55.1	67.8	46.9	57.7	274.5
UNICEF	23.9	23.6	9.7	18.8	24.0	99.9
UNDP	10.3	11.7	16.2	15.5	24.0	77.6
UNFPA	37.4	0	0	0	0	37.4
Others*	3.1	3.8	4.0	4.4	3.9	19.2
	121.6	94.2	97.7	85.6	109.5	508.5

 $^{{}^*\}mathit{The largest are Asian Development Fund, ILO, OSCE, FAO and Global Environment Facility}$

We see that four multilaterals stand for 96% of the imputed aid for social protection, with IDA, the World Bank's development agency, as the main actor with about 100 projects in 2019.³⁸ This is partly because Norway contributes about NOK one billion per year in core support to IDA, but also because IDA contributes significantly to social protection programs, with about 6% of its ODA going to DAC-160.10. Most (65%) of IDA's support to social protection in 2019 went to three countries, Bangladesh, Ethiopia and Nigeria, with a rural productive safety net program in Ethiopia receiving 20% alone, and the second largest program being a safety net program for the poorest in Bangladesh. UNFPA has one large contribution, but only in 2015, for a multi-country program against gender-based-violence.³⁹ The other multilaterals have only smaller programs. The largest UNICEF program is the Adolescent Development and Participation (ADAP) in the MENA regions, while the largest UNDP program is supporting financial inclusion in Chad.

³⁵ The procedure is described here for a split between recipient countries, while we have applied the procedure instead to sectors: www.oecd.org/development/stats/oecdmethodologyforcalculatingimputedmultilateraloda.htm

³⁶ Data on disbursements for the multilaterals is available from the Credit Reporting System (CRS) from OECD-DAC, but at time of writing only up till 2019: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=CRS1

³⁷ It is not clear what code has been used in CRS for projects that in the Norwegian system was coded as 430.72 prior to 2018, we cannot find a similar decline at the 430-level.

³⁸ The World Bank's strategy for integrating social protection with job creation and labor market policies is described in: https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/443791468157506768/pdf/732350BR0CODE200doc0version0REVISED.pdf

³⁹ Today this would be coded as DAC-151.80.

The largest program, the rural productive safety net program run by IDA in Ethiopia has clear household transfer components, ⁴⁰ and in that sense may be considered as one of Norway's main contributions to social safety nets. But recall that this is imputed aid. Norway contributes towards IDA's core funds, and not directly to this program, in contrast to other donors, such as USAID, DFID and Danida. ⁴¹ The second largest program, the safety net program in Bangladesh, on the other hand, is not as well documented, but appears to be a broad support to the Bangladesh government in their management of social safety nets, although in the early phase it appears to have more tangible components, including a workfare program. ⁴² The World Bank has related programs though in Bangladesh that appears to be more directly related to safety nets. ⁴³

Table 1.8 reports on the imputed aid for emergency food assistance. The imputed aid via WFP is substantial, at about 30% of the direct aid from Norway to the WFP. The WFP is a major partner for Norway, it receives about NOK 300 million per year in core support, and since the main activity of the WFP is emergency food assistance (about 60%), the imputed aid is relatively large. Similarly, another UN organization, the Central Emergency Response Fund (CERF) receives about NOK 450 million in core funding per year, with emergency food assistance being about 20% of their activity. Note that prior to 2017 there is no ODA reported from CERF in the Credit Reporting System of OECD-DAC.⁴⁴

Table 1.8. Imputed aid for food emergencies (ODA-720.40) via multilaterals (NOK million)

Organization	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	Total
WFP	81.1	137.8	180.4	222.9	182.1	776.0
CERF	0.0	0.0	98.3	103.3	66.1	415.2
Others*	0.4	1.1	1.8	1.9	1.3	6.4
	81.5	138.8	280.5	328.1	249.4	1197.5

^{*} IDA and European institutions

There is no direct aid to CERF from Norway beyond the core support. All aid from CERF is humanitarian (DAC 700), with a significant amount to food emergencies as reflected in the imputed aid in Table 1.8. But note that CERF, in turn, allocates most of its food aid via the WFP. Thus most of the imputed aid in Table 1.8 is ultimately allocated through the WFP.

Conclusions regarding imputed ODA to social safety nets

A relatively large fraction (NOK 50.5 billion, or 23% of all ODA over the period 2015-2020) of Norwegian aid is core support to multilateral organizations. This is, in principle, to cover the administrative costs of these organizations. The direct (earmarked) ODA from Norway via the

⁴⁰ https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/537741610667593156/pdf/Disclosable-Version-of-the-ISR-Ethiopia-Rural-Productive-Safety-Net-Project-P163438-Sequence-No-06.pdf

⁴¹ https://projects.worldbank.org/en/projects-operations/project-detail/P163438

⁴² https://projects.worldbank.org/en/projects-operations/project-detail/P132634

⁴³ https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2019/04/29/social-safety-nets-in-bangladesh-help-reduce-poverty-and-improve-human-capital

⁴⁴ CERF was a major donor prior to this, with Norway as one of the major contributors of core funds, thus this must be explained by a reorganization of the reporting system, potentially related to the changes explained here: https://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=DCD/DAC/STAT/RD(2021)1&docLanguage=En

⁴⁵ The exception is in 2018, when only 84% was allocated via WFP.

multilaterals to various sectors is a slightly larger sum (NOK 63.9 billion), and has, when it comes to the allocations to safety nets, been covered in the previous section. The core funds can, however, be interpreted as a support to the sector-specific programs that the multilaterals run themselves. ⁴⁶ If we do so, then we find that food aid via the WFP is the main channel of Norwegian aid, both in terms of imputed and direct ODA.

⁴⁶ This author finds this to be problematic as it is not common to calculate the imputed aid based on the administrative costs of Norad, MFA and other ministries in Norway (NOK 12.6 billion).

2. CLASSIFICATION OF NORWEGIAN ODA IN SUPPORT OF SOCIAL SAFETY NETS

2.1 Emergency vs long-term assistance

We found in the first section that emergency food assistance via the WFP is the main channel of Norwegian ODA in support of social safety nets. Emergency assistance is a response to aggregate risk, in contrast to idiosyncratic risk. Poor societies are in many ways able to handle idiosyncratic risks, where people help their neighbors in times of need knowing that the next time it may be themselves that need help.⁴⁷ Aggregate risk on the other hand, where whole villages, regions, countries or even groups of countries may be hit at the same time, will normally require aid from the outside. Wealthier countries will normally handle these situations themselves, while poor countries will regularly need international support. There is thus a well-founded rationale for large shares of Norwegian aid in support of social safety nets being channeled to emergency assistance. The modality of emergency aid has, however, been changing over time, with cash transfers gradually replacing food distribution, which will be discussed in more detail below.

We know from the welfare states, such as the Nordic countries, that a social safety net may also cover idiosyncratic risk, and thus to a small or larger degree replace the informal safety nets that exist in close-knit societies. The rationale, or at least the implications of this, is to make people less dependent on their family and neighbors. As a result one can more easily migrate to other parts of the country, marry at own will, and have more control over own income. Within village this may make people less dependent on powerful neighbors, in particular local employers cum moneylenders, and thus tilt local power-dynamics.⁴⁸ Safety nets, where households receive support in time of need, come with their own problems, with the identification of "time of need" being the essential one. How should one weigh the insurance element against the need of permanent support to some households? We now turn to this issue.

2.2 Targeted or universal programs

Whether a program is defined as universal or targeted depends on definition. The Norwegian welfare state is commonly used as an example of a universalist approach. The largest transfer programs in Norway are pensions, support during sick-leave, subsidized health care, unemployment benefits, and child benefits of different kinds.⁴⁹ These programs provide a social safety net, so that people are covered basically in any life-situation, whether they lose their job, needs medical assistance, get children, or simply get old, thus in that sense universal. But all these transfers depend on certain characteristics of the recipient, which involves targeting, and these characteristics are more or less easily verified. One of the largest employers in Norway is NAV, the government institution that verifies demands on the welfare state and disburses the household transfers.⁵⁰ NAV interviews people and judge whether they are no longer able to work, and thus eligible for disability pension, or if they are able to work whether they should receive (depending on previous taxable income) the state unemployment benefits or only a basic support from the municipality. NAV also tailor-makes work-training based on individual interviews. Old age pension may be considered universal, but is of

⁴⁷ The literature from different fields is extensive, with one seminal study being: Udry, C. (1990). Credit markets in Northern Nigeria: Credit as insurance in a rural economy. The World Bank Economic Review, 4(3), 251-269.

⁴⁸ Hatlebakk, M. (2009). "Capacity-constrained Collusive Price Discrimination in the Informal Rural Credit Markets of Nepal". Review of Development Economics. 13(1): 70-86. Hatlebakk, M. (2011). "Triadic Power Relations in Rural Nepal". Journal of Development Studies. 47(11):1739-1756.

 $^{49 \}quad See \ Table \ 4 \ here: www.ssb.no/en/offentlig-sektor/offentlig-forvaltning/statistikk/offentlig-forvaltnings-inntekter-og-utgiften \ and \ between \ and \ between \ be$

NAV employs 19 000 people, about 0.7% of the labor force. Some other public sector employers are larger, in particular the regional health services, and some private companies are larger. www.nav.no/en/home/about-nav/what-is-nav

course targeted to people above a certain age, with the pension itself depending on life-time income as verified by NAV. Thus the universalist welfare state is based on individual treatment, with the package of support being targeted to each person depending on their life situation and prior income, with the higher paid getting the largest transfers.⁵¹

What can poor countries learn from the welfare states? The fact that people receive support according to their previous taxable income may explain the widespread support for the welfare state. In poor countries, however, one normally discusses the opposite case, that is, whether the poorest segments of society should receive more than others, or, as an alternative, whether there should be a universal basic income.⁵² A main argument for the latter is to reduce the costs of identifying the target group of poor or marginalized people.

A universal transfer to everyone will by construction remove the targeting cost and exclusion errors, since there is no longer a need to identify a target group. The extra transfers may of course cost more than the targeting costs, and the distributional effects will depend on the exclusion and inclusion errors of the targeting system. If participation is made relatively costly for the non-target group, by way of low paid manual work, or other conditions, such as sending children to public school, then the costs of targeting may be low, and a targeted transfer system may be cost-effective.⁵³

A targeted transfer may be short-lived, in contrast to a universal transfer. It is an old question within development economics, and social policy in general, whether poor people are in a poverty trap, and can be lifted by way of a one-time large transfer.⁵⁴ If poor people lack the means to generate an income, why not rectify that problem, instead of providing permanent support? We shall see below that poverty traps may be the result of multiple constraints, so that the one-time transfer may have to be a one-time combination of interventions.

Thus a universal safety net does not need to be a universal basic transfer to all. On the contrary, in a poor country it appears that public funds, including development assistance, can be used more efficiently in support of maintaining human capital and other types of capital for the poor in times of emergencies, preferably by use of some self-targeting mechanisms such as work efforts or other conditions. Also with respect to long-term development it appears that short term, but multifaceted, support may help people out of a poverty trap. Below we will discuss some of the programs supported by Norway that are in support of these targets, before we turn to relevant knowledge gaps. While above we have already noted that most of the Norwegian support is emergency aid, and thus in support of the first target of maintaining human capital (education, health, nutrition) throughout crisis.

2.3 Conditional versus unconditional transfers

Related to the question of targeting is the issue of conditional versus unconditional transfers. With conditions added one may exclude households that find the conditions too costly for them. Cash or food for work can be considered as a conditional program, which, depending on the amount and type of work, may be attractive only for poor people, and thus constitute a self-targeting scheme. Norway supports some work-fare programs, such as the UNDP program in Gaza, mentioned above, and the World Bank programs in Bangladesh.

Conditional support may also be used, not to self-target specific groups, but rather to meet two objectives by one mean. Some of the Norwegian support is of this kind, with school feeding as the typical example. Children get a meal at lunch, assuming that they in fact go to school that day. The implementation here is essential, as one can imagine programs where families receive support to

⁵¹ These lists of forms are indicative of what type of support different people may receive: www.nav.no/soknader/en/person/arbeid

Hanna, R., & Olken, B. A. (2018). Universal basic incomes versus targeted transfers: Anti-poverty programs in developing countries. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 32(4), 201-26.

⁵³ Ravallion, M. (2019). Guaranteed employment or guaranteed income? World Development, 115, 209-221.

⁵⁴ The literature is large, one relative recent survey is the introductory chapter to: Barrett, C. B., Carter, M., Chavas, J. P., & Carter, M. R. (Eds.). (2019). The Economics of Poverty Traps. University of Chicago Press.

grow their own food, assuming that this will allow the children to go to school. In worst case the children may stay home to grow the food, for example by working in the vegetable garden and the maize fields. This will be counterproductive if the combined target is to promote both nutrition and education. Scholarships may have similar incentive problems, where children go to school the first weeks, and then leave when the scholarship is received. But in general, as we will see in the section on knowledge gaps, research has found conditional transfers to be successful, also when compared to unconditional transfers. Most of these programs have been implemented by governments in Latin America, while this is still a minor element in Norwegian development assistance, with school feeding being a major component. There are also some programs in the Norwegian portfolio that are conditioned on people using health services.

2.4 Cash vs kind

As discussed above, in-kind payments may be considered as a self-targeting mechanism. Food aid may be more attractive for poor people as there may be a social cost for the wealthier in showing up at food distribution stations, and a direct trading cost if the food is not to their liking and they need to sell it. Food aid also mimics conditional transfers in the sense that the transfer is tied to food consumption. The degree of conditionality depends on the local food market. If the household can easily sell the food in the market, then food aid is in principle an unconditional cash transfer. If no trade is feasible, then the transfer is conditional in the sense that it meets other targets of the implementing agency, such as child nutrition, and if given at school, education.⁵⁵

Many of the programs supported by Norway have implemented intermediate solutions between cash and in-kind transfers. A potential problem with cash transfers is well known from many countries, including Norway from the time when salaries were received in envelopes at the end of the week, money in hand can easily be spent on the way home on payday. Cash on a bank account reduces this problem. From Bank accounts come in different forms, and can be more or less tailor made to poor people. Access via a mobile phone allows transfer to family members elsewhere, which is useful for migrant labor, and transfer to shopkeepers or others when cash is needed. The Business Correspondent model in India is an organized version of the latter. The bank account can, in principle be linked to government registers of target groups, such as people with Below Poverty Line (BLP) status in India. Such financial inclusion programs have been equally important in other parts of the world, with the M-Pesa program in Kenya and the Progresa program in Mexico being the best known examples.

While money on an account can normally easily be turned into cash, there are other intermediate solutions that are more similar to in-kind payments, such as food-stamps, or other sorts of coupons, and store-credit. As for in-kind payments, markets will exist for food stamps and other forms, with amount of trading depending on the local market, including any control mechanisms. As discussed

⁵⁵ For a discussion of the different arguments for cash versus in-kind transfers, although with most examples from richer countries, see: Currie, J., & Gahvari, F. (2008). Transfers in cash and in-kind: Theory meets the data. Journal of Economic Literature, 46(2), 333-83. For a review and systematic discussion of evidence from poorer countries, see: Gentilini, U. (2016). Revisiting the "cash versus food" debate: new evidence for an old puzzle? The World Bank Research Observer, 31(1), 135-167. For a longer version see: Alderman, H., Gentilini, U., & Yemtsov, R. (Eds.). (2017). The 1.5 billion people question: food, vouchers, or cash transfers?. World Bank Publications.

⁵⁶ For one recent study by CMI that confirms this hypothesis, see: Somville, V., & Vandewalle, L. (2018). Saving by default: Evidence from a field experiment in rural India. American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 10(3), 39-66.

⁵⁷ www.rbi.org.in/scripts/bs_viewcontent.aspx?Id=2234

⁵⁸ Within the NREGA workfare program In India, one can find the individual jobcards on the NREGA website, with village, BPL status, bank connection, and number of days worked on different projects for each named family member. Thus full transparency, albeit zero data security.

⁵⁹ Ahmad, A. H., Green, C., & Jiang, F. (2020). Mobile money, financial inclusion and development: A review with reference to African experience. Journal of Economic Surveys, 34(4), 753-792.

⁶⁰ Masino, S., & Niño-Zarazúa, M. (2020). Improving financial inclusion through the delivery of cash transfer programmes: The case of Mexico's Progresa-Oportunidades-Prospera programme. The Journal of Development Studies, 56(1), 151-168.

above, the WFP is a main vehicle for Norwegian transfers to households in need, and WFP has an explicit policy of combining the different solutions discussed here, with the mix depending on the local context.⁶¹ In particular in emergencies in places where the food market is expected to function well and the target group is easily identified, cash may be the most efficient way to help people in need.

2.5 Multifaceted programs

In the mapping of Norwegian aid in support of social safety nets we found that most programs had only one component among many that was in fact a transfer program. These broad development programs had different additional components. Transfers are tied to the use of health services or children attending school, or they are part of broader agricultural development programs, or broad national level reconstruction programs such as the Afghanistan Reconstruction Trust Fund in Afghanistan. We also know, from the history of Norwegian development assistance, that broadbased rural development programs used to be a major strategy.⁶² With the shift towards market led solutions in many donor countries in the 1980s and 90s also the development strategies changed and the focus shifted towards state-building, democratization, trade and economic growth. Today we see that economic growth has reduced poverty in some parts of the world, noticeably in China and some other Asian countries, while poverty is still high in rural Africa, and parts of India and South-Asia in general. There appears to be village level poverty traps⁶³ where people meet multiple constraints that will have to be solved simultaneously. Norway now supports such broad rural development programs, in particular via multilateral organizations such as the mentioned rural productive safety net program in Ethiopia and the safety net program for the poorest in Bangladesh. We will discuss in more detail below how such multifaceted⁶⁴ programs should reflect deeper analysis of the underlying constraints that poor people meet.

⁶¹ https://www.wfp.org/food-assistance

⁶² Page 112 onwards in: Ruud, A.E. and Kjerland, K.A. (2003). Norsk Utviklingshjelps Historie. 1975-1989. Vekst, velvilje og utfordringer. Fagbokforlaget.

⁶³ For a seminal contribution, see: Banerjee, A. V., & Newman, A. F. (1993). Occupational choice and the process of development. Journal of political economy, 101(2), 274-298. And for one empirical analysis see: Hatlebakk, M. (2014). Poverty dynamics in rural Orissa: Transitions in assets and occupations over generations. Journal of Development Studies, 50(6), 877-893. For additional references see the knowledge gap section.

⁶⁴ For one introduction to the literature see: Banerjee, A., Duflo, E., Goldberg, N., Karlan, D., Osei, R., Parienté, W., ... & Udry, C. (2015). A multifaceted program causes lasting progress for the very poor: Evidence from six countries. Science, 348(6236). And for a more recent discussion, see: Banerjee, A., Duflo, E., & Sharma, G. (2021). Long-term Effects of the Targeting the Ultra Poor Program. Forthcoming in American Economic Review: Insights. https://economics.mit.edu/files/20723.

3. KNOWLEDGE GAPS

The literature on social safety nets is extensive, with numerous reviews of different parts of the literature. Instead of making another one, we will focus on a few selected issues motivated by the mapping above and a recent report by Norad that reviews the literature. The Norad report points to some critical issues where findings are not definite. We have gone to the underlying research with the aim of identifying the source of any conflicting findings, to see whether local context, target groups, research questions or research methodology may explain any apparently conflicting findings. Here are some cites from the report (translated by us), and specification of what we will discuss in more detail below.

Conditional vs unconditional transfers

"Studies that have compared the effects of conditional versus unconditional transfers have no clear conclusions (ikke entydige konklusjoner)". The note concludes that context matters, which we will discuss below. The literature that studies conditional *or* unconditional support is extensive, while there are not so many studies that compare the two.

Cash transfers and long-term development

"There is a need to understand how cash-transfers can be combined with long-term development projects to improve long-term development". Below we will in particular discuss how emergency aid may counteract permanent loss of productive capabilities and recent research that show how multifaceted (cash-plus, graduation) anti-poverty programs can help households' transition from permanent poverty to a positive development path.

Gender programming

"There are mixed findings when it comes to the effects of social transfers on women and gender equality". We will attempt to reconcile these findings based on existing research.

Implementation (digital solutions)

The report also discusses a number of implementation issues, such as coordination with local governments when it comes to long-term development, the integration of emergency and long-term assistance, identification of target groups versus universal systems, and the use of digital solutions. Many of these are already discussed, and we will below focus on the relatively thin research on digital solutions.

3.1 Conditional transfers

Governments and aid agencies will normally have multiple goals, and cash, or in-kind, transfers can incentivize people to utilize government services in support of these goals. This is, in some sense, the opposite of user-fees, as people are paid to utilize services, such as education and health services. One rationale for this is that there are positive externalities, as not only the person itself will benefit. Vaccines and treatments of transmissible diseases are standard examples. People may not consider the full benefits for society from utilizing these services. Whether the price should be negative, as with conditional cash transfers, or only subsidized, will be a trade-off between the positive externalities

⁶⁵ www.norad.no/om-bistand/publikasjon/2020/sosiale-sikkerhetsnett-og-kontantoverforinger---en-kunnskaps-og-erfaringsoppsummering/.

and the public costs of raising the necessary funds. In particular for foreign aid it appears to us that the use of funds does not always reflect the marginal cost of funds, but ideally vaccine subsidies should be weighed against the social benefits of other use of public funds, both within and beyond the health sector. Also education may have positive externalities as a child with, let us say, reading skills may help family members and neighbors who cannot read.⁶⁶ And at the macro level the full benefits of an educated workforce may extend beyond the private benefits for the households.⁶⁷

Beyond positive externalities, governments or aid agencies may also be concerned with the interests of children, or other household members, with a limited say on how unconditional transfers are spent. One may realize that even if money is given to the child, or others with a limited say within the household, they may not be able to spend it to their own liking. The parents may, in theory, not see the full benefits of education, ⁶⁸ which in turn is a rationale for transfers conditioned on school attendance.

Conditional transfers are thus intended to divert household expenditures and other behavior away from what the household would do in the case of unconstrained transfers. If the conditions are that children go to school, then this will affect both income (from child labor), and potentially how the lower incomes are spent (clothing, school materials, and potentially food expenditures for the children). The empirical test that will separate the impacts of the two types of transfers is thus whether the composition of household expenditures and other household behavior are in fact affected, and if so, in the intended direction. Many of the reviews of the literature do not focus on this essential issue. Instead of comparing the impacts of conditional and unconditional transfers of the same size, one tend to report the impacts of either conditional or unconditional transfers compared to no transfers. This may have interest, but will not help an agency deciding whether a particular transfer should be conditional or not.

Transfers conditional on sending children to school have been a major research focus. One influential review reports findings from 35 different studies comparing the impacts of conditional and unconditional transfers on schooling.⁷¹ It was found that conditions work, but only for programs where the conditions "are explicitly conditional, monitor compliance and penalize non-compliance". While they found no significant difference when they included all 35 programs. There is thus clear evidence that it is not the context, but rather the implementation of the program that matters.⁷² If a program conditions the transfers on people actually sending children to school, and this is in fact monitored, then, as we may expect, people send their children to school.

⁶⁶ Basu, K., Narayan, A., & Ravallion, M. (2001). Is literacy shared within households? Theory and evidence for Bangladesh. Labour Economics, 8(6), 649-665.

⁶⁷ In fact the opposite is just as likely, that is, if education is just a sorting mechanism. Then education will just select one person, among equally production candidates, into a better paid job: Weiss, A. (1995). "Human capital vs. signalling explanations of wages".

Journal of Economic Perspectives. 9(4): 133-154; Acemoglu, D. and Angrist, J. (2000): "How Large are the Social Returns to Education? Evidence from Compulsory Schooling Laws", in: Bernanke, B.S. and Rogoff, K.S. (eds). National Bureau of Economics. Macroeconomics Annual, MIT Press.

⁶⁸ Based on numerous interviews in South-Asian villages this author doubts that this is the case, thus the term "in theory".

⁶⁹ One may imagine that households will even over-compensate and ultimately utilizing less of the subsidized services. This is related to a general concern that pro-social behavior may be undermined by economic incentives in support of such behavior: Gneezy, U., Meier, S., & Rey-Biel, P. (2011). When and why incentives (don't) work to modify behavior. Journal of economic perspectives, 25(4), 191-210.

⁷⁰ In an extensive review of the literature, ODI reports that only eight studies (they say 5 out of 56 studies elsewhere in the report) compared conditional and unconditional transfers, and find "(somewhat) bigger impacts for education and health and nutrition outcomes": Bastagli, F., Hagen-Zanker, J., Harman, L., Barca, V., Sturge, G., Schmidt, T., & Pellerano, L. (2016). Cash transfers: what does the evidence say. A rigorous review of programme impact and the role of design and implementation features. London: ODI, July-2016.

Paird, S., Ferreira, F. H., Özler, B., & Woolcock, M. (2014). Conditional, unconditional and everything in between: a systematic review of the effects of cash transfer programmes on schooling outcomes. Journal of Development Effectiveness, 6(1), 1-43.

⁷² Context may still matter for the size of the impact, which in turn will vary with the indicator used.

The choice between conditional and unconditional transfers should depend on the aim of the program. If the aim is to relax liquidity constraints, or help people in need, then unconditional transfers is the right choice, but if the aim is also to incentivize people to send their children to school, or utilize health services, then well-designed conditional transfers will be in place. In fact the flagship Progresa program is found to have positive impacts on a number of indicators, although there are still relatively few studies of long-term impacts.⁷³ A recent review reports on the studies of long-term impacts, where available evidence is best on schooling outcomes (although they also cover health interventions, and labor market outcomes).⁷⁴ The most robust findings are that: "Most studies find positive long-term effects on schooling, but fewer find positive impacts on cognitive skills, learning, or socio-emotional skills".

When it comes to liquidity constraints, there are arguments in favor of unconditional cash transfers, as the additional targets on which conditions may be placed will be hard to identify. One condition may be that they start a profitable business, but then a loan may be a better instrument. The exception here is the case where potential entrepreneurs are so close to subsistence consumption that they cannot even handle repayments of a loan. An example that we have studied is rickshaw cyclists who rent the rickshaw despite that the weekly repayments on a rickshaw loan will be only marginally larger. In such cases, where poor people run a profitable business by way of leasing the capital needed (rickshaw, sewing machine, livestock, examples are many), an unconditional cash transfer (or equivalently a transfer of ownership of the asset) may lift them out of a poverty trap. One multi-country study confirms this, cash transfers have the largest impacts on agricultural production when liquidity appears to be the binding constraints, and the households have available family labor to utilize the production capacity. In other contexts other constraints may bind and multifaceted programs may be the solution.

3.2 Cash transfers and long-term development

The Norwegian government states that "cash transfers contribute to bridge humanitarian assistance and long-term development". The core argument for this is that cash transfers contribute to maintaining in particular human capital throughout emergencies. Norwegian assistance focuses on keeping children in school, sustaining food consumption, and providing health services throughout crisis. Norway also intends to strengthen its support to social safety nets, and see this as a contribution towards long term development. As discussed above, there is a potential trade-off between universal permanent transfers and a universal safety net that kicks in when people are in need, either due to an emergency or as a one-time transfer to lift them out of a poverty trap. In this section we will focus on the latter.

⁷³ Parker, S. W., & Todd, P. E. (2017). Conditional cash transfers: The case of Progresa/Oportunidades. Journal of Economic Literature, 55(3), 866-915.

⁷⁴ Millán, T. M., Barham, T., Macours, K., Maluccio, J. A., & Stampini, M. (2019). Long-term impacts of conditional cash transfers: Review of the evidence. The World Bank Research Observer, 34(1), 119-159.

⁷⁵ Hatlebakk, M. (2015) "Myopic Preferences or Subsistence Income? Why do Rickshaw Cyclists rent the Cycle?" International Journal of Development Issues. 14(3): 204-214.

⁷⁶ Daidone, S., Davis, B., Handa, S., & Winters, P. (2019). The Household and Individual-Level Productive Impacts of Cash Transfer Programs in Sub-Saharan Africa. American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 101(5), 1401-1431. The impact on asset holdings, in particular livestock, is supported by another influential study: Haushofer, J., & Shapiro, J. (2018). The long-term impact of unconditional cash transfers: experimental evidence from Kenya. Busara Center for Behavioral Economics, Nairobi, Kenya.

⁷⁷ Page 15 in the annual budget for the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (Prop. 1 S. (2020 –2021), Det Kongelige Utenriksdepartement).

⁷⁸ Page 16 in the annual budget for the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (Prop. 1 S. (2020 – 2021), Det Kongelige Utenriksdepartement).

Research indicates that there are geographic pockets of rural poverty, ⁷⁹ where cash transfers will not be sufficient to lift people out of extreme poverty. In remote parts of Africa, and some parts of South-Asia, the extreme poor meet multiple constraints, and a combination of interventions is necessary to lift them out of poverty. These interventions should, in principle, be temporary, with people accumulating further wealth by themselves after they have passed a critical threshold. The relevant constraints are:

- Subsistence constraints (basic nutrition)
- Insurance (health, agriculture, social safety nets)
- Human capital (education, training, nutrition, health programs)
- Physical capital (microcredit, savings, livestock)

Even people who in principle are willing to accept risk, may be forced to behave as if they are risk averse if they live near a subsistence level. Villagers may insure each other against idiosyncratic risk, while aggregate risk, such as natural calamities, pandemics or village-wide introduction of a new agricultural technology, may require transfers from the outside. These may be in form of insurance at a larger scale than the informal insurance one finds in villages, or just transfer in times of need (thus basically insurance without the ex-ante premium payments).

The subsistence constraint may bind even without risk. As discussed above, this may hinder profitable investments, as even repayments of loans may bring them close to, or even below, subsistence consumption. If markets work well, then a one-time large transfer will make the poor able to get out of poverty. They can buy sufficient food to pass nutritional constraints, they can get access to health, education and training, and buy the necessary physical capital needed to improve their income generation, whether that is in agriculture or other businesses. But we know that markets do not work well in remote and poor areas. Still, one-time interventions may be sufficient if they cover all relevant domains. In the most remote places this may include a package of development programs:

- Subsistence constraints: cash and in-kind transfers, including work-fare programs, nutritional supplements, agricultural inputs.
- Insurance: health services, agricultural insurance, emergency aid, social safety net
- Human capital: primary and higher level education, skill training, agricultural extension services, nutritional programs, health services
- Physical capital: microcredit, savings programs, livestock programs

Multifaceted rural development programs were popular in the 1970s,⁸⁰ and later replaced by other development ideas, in particular with a focus on democratic institutions, economic growth and redistribution. But the old integrated rural development programs put less weight on underlying market failures, and more on infrastructure, coordination at the village level, and basic needs of the households. These are all important, but today we can benefit from decades of research on underlying market failures in the rural credit, labor and land markets.⁸¹

We know from the early writings within development theory that there is a need for a balanced growth path, where countries go through a structural transformation with economic growth in all

⁷⁹ For an influential discussion of both theory and empirical evidence see: Barrett, C. B., & Swallow, B. M. (2006). Fractal poverty traps. World development, 34(1), 1-15. For a recent review of the literature on poverty traps see: Barrett, C.B., Carter, M.R. and Chavas, J.P. (2019). Introduction, in: The Economics of Poverty Traps. National Bureau of Economic Research Conference Report. University of Chicago Press. And for a more extensive discussion of poverty traps versus other forms of poverty, and anti-poverty measures including targeted transfers, see: Ravallion, M. (2016). The Economics of Poverty. Oxford University Press.

⁸⁰ Ruttan, V. W. (1984). Integrated rural development programmes: A historical perspective. World Development, 12(4), 393-401.

⁸¹ Some of this literature is summarized in standard text-books: Basu, K. (1997). Analytical Development Economics. MIT Press, and: Ray, D. (1998). Development Economics. Princeton University Press.

sectors. ⁸² Investments in agriculture will release labor and economic surplus that can be utilized in other sectors, both within the rural economy, and in urban areas. Thus today we know that there is no conflict between the development theories of earlier decades, that is, we need both economic growth and redistribution via social safety nets, as well as integrated rural development programs. In contrast to the 1970s, the world should be able to afford the necessary policies to include also the remaining pockets of extreme poverty in remote areas in the development process. In particular China has demonstrated that temporary policies can have permanent effects. ⁸³

With the randomized control trials (RCT) revolution within development economics, such multifaceted development programs have been tested on a large scale, and have been found to have both short- and long-term impacts on poverty reduction and a number of other outcomes. In the short to medium term (three years) the programs increase households' net worth, income, consumption, and health. Some of the programs have now been studied for 10 years, and show continued impacts on the same indicators, including spillovers on people who were not targeted.⁸⁴ It is also found that if one drops some of the program components, then they may not work.⁸⁵

In the mapping above we found that most of the Norwegian assistance in support of social safety nets have relatively small cash or in-kind transfer components that are part of much larger development programs. This opens up for systematic comparison between programs, and potential adjustment of programs based on available research on what packages may work. It has been outside the scope of the present report to say whether any of the programs supported contain the full package of program components that appear to be successful in lifting people out of poverty. But based on the program description, the IDA supported rural productive safety net (PSNP) in Ethiopia and the safety net program for the poorest in Bangladesh are the closest we get among the larger programs. Some of the NGO supported programs are also broad-based integrated rural development programs. The PSNP has been studied by many, and a recent review indicates a number of positive impacts. ⁸⁶

3.3 Gender programming

The role of female empowerment in household decision making is a prime example of how the choice of method, and implicitly the underlying theory, affects your conclusions regarding impacts of a policy intervention. It is well established that measures of female empowerment⁸⁷ are positively correlated with a number of welfare indicators.⁸⁸ Women tend to prioritize nutrition and education for their children, and in particular for girls, and the more empowered women more so. This does not imply

⁸² Lewis W. A. (1954) 'Economic Development with Unlimited Supplies of Labor', Manchester School of Economic and Social Studies, 22 (2): 139–91. For a recent discussion, see: Barrett, C. B., Christiaensen, L., Sheahan, M., & Shimeles, A. (2017). On the Structural Transformation of Rural Africa. Journal of African Economies, 26(suppl_1), i11-i35.

⁸³ Jalan, J., & Ravallion, M. (2002). Geographic poverty traps? A micro model of consumption growth in rural China. Journal of applied econometrics. 17(4), 329-346.

⁸⁴ Banerjee, A., Duflo, E., & Sharma, G. (2021). Long-term Effects of the Targeting the Ultra Poor Program. Forthcoming in American Economic Review: Insights. https://economics.mit.edu/files/20723.

⁸⁵ Banerjee, A., Karlan, D., Osei, R. D., Trachtman, H., & Udry, C. (2018). Unpacking a multi-faceted program to build sustainable income for the very poor (No. w24271). National Bureau of Economic Research; and: Sedlmayr, R., Shah, A., & Sulaiman, M. (2020). Cash-plus: Poverty impacts of alternative transfer-based approaches. Journal of Development Economics, 144, 102418.

⁸⁶ Desalegn, G., & Ali, S. N. (2018). Review of the Impact of Productive Safety Net Program (PSNP) on Rural Welfare in Ethiopia.
ZEF Working Paper 173. Center for Development Research, University of Bonn.

⁸⁷ These can be self reported measures of female empowerment, or external measures based on economic position (own and natal family resources in terms of wealth, employment, or education). Such measures are collected on a large scale by the World Bank LSMS+ program, and for the subjective measures by the DHS survey program, which cover many more countries.

⁸⁸ One good review is: Doss, C. (2013). Intrahousehold bargaining and resource allocation in developing countries. The World Bank Research Observer, 28(1), 52-78. For a previous review, see: Doss, C. R. (1996). Testing among models of intrahousehold resource allocation. World development, 24(10), 1597-1609. And for more recent reviews, see: Doss, C. R., & Quisumbing, A. R. (2020). Understanding rural household behavior: Beyond Boserup and Becker. Agricultural Economics, 51(1), 47-58, and the text book: Eswaran, M. (2014). Why gender matters in economics. Princeton University Press.

that a cash transfer to women will lead to higher spending on girls' nutrition and education, beyond the normal income effect that will lead to an increase in all spending. A cash transfer will only have an additional impact on girls' welfare if it strengthens the female bargaining position within the household. One can easily imagine the opposite: a woman receives cash from an NGO activist, or by some other means from an external agent or program. This can be considered by her husband as external intrusion into family life, and lead to a backlash where he takes more control over the woman's life.

Despite that one shall not necessarily expect cash transfers to alter female empowerment, it is not uncommon to attempt to test theories of female empowerment by way of an RCT where cash is given to women and men, and then measure whether cash to women leads to higher spending on girls. If there is no statistical difference between the spending by men and women, then one may conclude that there is no support for the female empowerment theory. This will be misleading, since the finding may reflect that women and men have the same preferences, that the sample size is too small, or, more importantly, that the man has full control over the woman's spending. If the latter is the case, then a negative finding is rather in support of a theory of female empowerment.

To test the theory one will have to compare the spending of empowered women, with the spending of women who are not empowered. This can be done on any type of data, not only from RTCs. ⁸⁹ If the budget share for, let us say, girls' education or food intake, is larger among empowered women than for other women and men, then we know female empowerment matters. The research mentioned above has tested this in many different contexts and with different measures of female empowerment. The implication for cash transfers is that one will have to design the programs so that they are likely to affect the female bargaining position within the household.

Although the literature on the role of female empowerment in general is large, there are not many studies that systematically study how cash-transfers affect female empowerment. Any cash-transfer program can be used to investigate this by implementing different versions of cash-transfers. To set up the research, there is a need for theory that may explain why a cash transfer will alter the female bargaining position within a household. Why wouldn't an additional cash transfer be controlled by the husband to the same extent as any other income? In principle this can be tested by varying the way women receive the cash transfer, but this is rarely done in RCTs. From earlier research we know that it may potentially matter, for example income earned by the woman may give her more power than unearned income (such as a cash transfer).

⁸⁹ One may argue that there is a selection problem here, that is, there is some unobservable factor that explains that women are empowered and (at any income level) spend relatively more on goods and services for their daughters. But what should this factor be, maybe liberal values? We have argued elsewhere that these underlying factors will in themselves be deeper measures of female empowerment: www.cmi.no/publications/5190-female-empowerment-and-education-of-children-in

⁹⁰ Most studies that say they focus on female empowerment in fact reports on the impact on welfare indicators, assuming that the impact goes via female empowerment. For example chapter 11 on impacts of cash-transfers on female empowerment in a core review of the literature only reports on welfare indicators such as household expenditures, marriage and reproductive health decisions: Bastagli, F., Hagen-Zanker, J., Harman, L., Barca, V., Sturge, G., Schmidt, T., & Pellerano, L. (2016). Cash transfers: what does the evidence say. A rigorous review of programme impact and the role of design and implementation features. London: ODI, July-2016. One recent intervention study did measure female empowerment, and found that job-offers had no impact on female empowerment: Kotsadam, A., & Villanger, E. (2020). Jobs and intimate partner violence-Evidence from a field experiment in Ethiopia. CESifo Working Paper No. 8108.

⁹¹ An alternative to variation in factors that may affect female empowerment is to directly vary empowerment in an experimental setting. A recent study found that in such a game, female empowerment did not matter: Ringdal, C., & Sjursen, I. H. (2020). Household bargaining and spending on children: Experimental evidence from Tanzania. Economica. 88(350): 430-455.

⁹² For a good study see: Anderson, S., & Eswaran, M. (2009). What determines female autonomy? Evidence from Bangladesh. Journal of Development Economics, 90(2), 179-191.

The lack of theory in many RCTs is a major concern. On top of this comes the fact that a nil-result does not prove much, 93 the standard approach in empirical research will be to set up a nil-hypothesis, and a rejection will support your theory. And if there is support for the theory in many different contexts (as you can test if you have large datasets) then the finding is robust. The established literature on female empowerment has gone through this process of gradually testing theory on large datasets in different contexts, while the recent evidence from a few RCTs with nil-results is too limited to change the main conclusion.

This does not imply that well designed RCTs cannot provide new insights. As mentioned, RCTs, and other intervention studies, can provide new information if one compares different ways of giving women a transfer. Variation can happen along many dimensions:

- wage vs transfer (as in the mentioned study)
- cash vs kind
- cash in hand vs on an account
- cash vs asset

And the transfers can be combined with a set of other policy instruments we know strengthen female empowerment. This can be programs to strengthen female political participation, self-help groups, entrepreneurship programs, female quotas in hiring processes, information campaigns, inheritance rights, divorce rights, and many more.⁹⁴

Going beyond RCTs, the World Bank has added a large gender component to its Living Standard Measurement Surveys, the so-called LSMS+ program, which has led to a number of new publications on the role of female empowerment in agriculture. Adding other data sources, including intervention studies, this literature on women's role in agriculture is large, and cannot be summarized in this short report. At a methodological level the core problem is the same as with all farm-household models, that all family members work on the same land, and normally pool their resources as well as the produce. The LSMS+ surveys attempt to dig into this black box, by asking about a wide range of individual specific user rights to land, in addition to individual time-use, and spending.

The general finding from all this literature is that female empowerment matters for household decision-making. To strengthen women's say within the household is, however, a different matter. One cannot expect a cash transfer in itself to alter intrahousehold power relations. But if the transfer is somewhat related to powers outside the household that can alter the power relations within, then a cash transfer may have an impact. Altering those external conditions may, however, be the essential element of the intervention.

⁹³ Nil-results, when the sample size is sufficiently large, are still important, but should be interpreted in the context of existing accumulated theoretical and empirical research. While one positive finding may imply that we need to change our view of the world, a nil-result is normally just another piece in the puzzle.

⁹⁴ There are many reviews of interventions that may work including the mentioned: Doss, C. (2013). Intrahousehold bargaining and resource allocation in developing countries. The World Bank Research Observer, 28(1), 52-78. But also see: Duflo, E. (2012). Women empowerment and economic development. Journal of Economic literature, 50(4), 1051-79; Eswaran, M. (2014). Why gender matters in economics. Princeton University Press; Quisumbing, A. R. (2003). Household decisions, gender, and development: a synthesis of recent research. International Food Policy Research Institute.

⁹⁵ For a 2015 intro to the program (at that time named as LSMS-ISA) see a special issue of Agricultural Economics: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/toc/15740862/2015/46/3.

⁹⁶ For a recent survey see: Doss, C. R., & Quisumbing, A. R. (2020). Understanding rural household behavior: Beyond Boserup and Becker. Agricultural Economics, 51(1), 47-58.

⁹⁷ For a presentation of recent data from the program, see: Hasanbasri, Ardina; Kilic, Talip; Koolwal, Gayatri; Moylan, Heather.
(2021). LSMS+ Program in Sub-Saharan Africa: Findings from Individual-Level Data Collection on Labor and Asset Ownership.
World Bank

Any attempts to alter intrahousehold power-relations need to take into account a potential backlash where the husband use alternative means to maintain his position. This can be straightforward violence, with gender-based violence (GBV) potentially being an unintentional effect of an intervention, or the husband can resolve to other means that alter the woman's bargaining position. He can threaten divorce, which may have multiple economic implications, or he can keep her away from work, school, the market, or visits to her own family, potentially by threats of violence. One can thus imagine that GBV will first increase as a result of an intervention that strengthen female empowerment, followed by a decline in GBV as the woman in fact gets a stronger position within the household. If this is the case, then the time of measurement of the impact becomes essential. To get quickly over the intermediate phase, it is essential that the woman's renewed outside option is credibly established. This may require a combination of legal reforms in support of economic empowerment of women and a prior local campaign, that may have to last for years, to ensure support for the transition.

3.4 Digital solutions

Digital solutions within development assistance do not have to be very advanced. For transfers, the simplest possible solution will be mobile talk-time. This can be implemented even on an old-fashioned mobile phone, where people get paid, let us say for one day in a public works program, in terms of phone credit. In many poor economies there is a perfect market where phone credits can be cashed in among friends or at the nearest street corner. From phone credits the digital solutions can be gradually more sophisticated. For those without a smart phone one can in India go to a business correspondent as discussed above. This will normally be a local businessman with cash on hand that can add or withdraw funds from his clients' bank accounts using his own smart phone. The next step will be that the client can check the balance, and transfer money themselves, using their own smartphone, as in the M-Pesa system in Kenya. For adding and withdrawing cash they also will have to go to an agent as in the business correspondent model. The final step is full scale online banking that is linked to an ATM network. The lower rungs of this value chain can be linked to various microfinance solutions, with self-help groups, or other types of community organizations or microfinance groups, helping people to save, invest and developing skills related to income-generating activities.

Another direction of digital development will be towards integration with other forms of digital solutions, with government transfers and tax systems being the core examples. As mentioned above, the NREGA work program in India is one example of a well developed system. There is research that points to the cost-effectiveness of linking the NREGA payments to digital registers, including less leakage. While others point out that digital solutions will not necessarily solve the underlying targeting problem. 103

⁹⁸ For one review of the literature see: Buller, A. M., Peterman, A., Ranganathan, M., Bleile, A., Hidrobo, M., & Heise, L. (2018).
A mixed-method review of cash transfers and intimate partner violence in low-and middle-income countries. The World Bank Research Observer, 33(2), 218-258.

⁹⁹ For a cross country analysis of the importance of legal reforms for female economic empowerment see: Htun, M., Jensenius, F. R., & Nelson-Nuñez, J. (2019). Gender-discriminatory laws and women's economic agency. Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State & Society, 26(2), 193-222.

¹⁰⁰ For an analysis with more focus on this prior step, see: Htun, M., & Jensenius, F. R. (2020). Fighting violence against women: laws, norms & challenges ahead. Daedalus, 149(1), 144-159.

¹⁰¹ https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/small-biz/money/with-a-commission-of-rs-15-rbis-business-correspondents-model-might-be-failing-governments-financial-inclusion-plans/articleshow/79402278.cms

¹⁰² Muralidharan, K., Niehaus, P., & Sukhtankar, S. (2016). Building state capacity: Evidence from biometric smartcards in India. American Economic Review, 106(10), 2895-2929.

¹⁰³ Kanbur (2017): The digital revolution and targeting public expenditure for poverty reduction. WP 2017-11. Charles H. Dyson School of Applied Economics and Management. Cornell University.

Most reviews focus, however, on the broader literature on financial inclusion.¹⁰⁴ Financial services include insurance, saving and credit systems. We have already discussed savings and insurance, which is one way to create a social safety net. The literature on microcredit is a large one, with numerous reviews of the literature.¹⁰⁵ The core finding is that people are to some extent credit constrained, and spend new funds from microcredit programs in a number of ways, including productive assets, consumer durables, and for example marriage expenses. As we may expect, microcredit does not lead to transformative changes as concluded in a recent review: "The impacts of financial inclusion interventions are small and variable. Although some services have some positive effects for some people, overall financial inclusion may be no better than comparable alternatives, such as graduation or livelihoods interventions." ¹⁰⁶ Which thus brings us back to the multifaceted graduation programs discussed above.

In conclusion, we cannot see that there are any clear knowledge gaps when it comes to digital solutions in transfer programs. Transfer programs are in general switching to transfers on an account instead of in hand, with recipients having access via mobile phones. This will normally reduce the risk of leakage, and is found to increase savings. Digital registers may reduce the costs of targeting, and if recipients are listed online it will increase transparency, although at the cost of loss of privacy. Norway is already supporting digital solutions, including support to the World Bank's efforts in helping countries developing digital solutions. ¹⁰⁷ But also by supporting a wide range of transfer programs as discussed throughout this report, programs that tend to shift towards cash transfers on an account.

¹⁰⁴ For one such review that also covers digitalization, see: Karlan, D., Kendall, J., Mann, R., Pande, R., Suri, T., & Zinman, J. (2016). Research and impacts of digital financial services (No. w22633). National Bureau of Economic Research.

¹⁰⁵ Including a short review by us in: Hatlebakk (2016), Hva virker i utviklingspolitikken. CMI-Rapport 7-2016.

¹⁰⁶ Duvendack, M., & Mader, P. (2020). Impact of financial inclusion in low-and middle-income countries: A systematic review of reviews. Journal of Economic Surveys, 34(3), 594-629.

¹⁰⁷ With NOK 61 million in 2019: https://resultater.norad.no/avtale/MUL-19/0007. www.worldbank.org/en/programs/digital-development-partnership

4. CONCLUSIONS

Norwegian ODA in support of social safety nets is normally integrated in broad development programs where transfers to households are relatively small elements as compared to the overall budgets, and with most of the aid classified as emergency assistance. Broad programs do, in principle, allow for the necessary flexibility to turn emergency assistance into long-term development. We know it is important to sustain human capital during emergencies. Children need to go to school, and all household members need sufficient food to stay healthy and be able to maintain their livelihood activities. Emergency aid is thus a necessary part of any safety net.

A larger question is whether a safety net should in fact be a safety net, and thus provide temporary support when people are in need, or whether it should provide a permanent (safe) income to all, or to some target group of poor or marginalized people. The Norwegian welfare state is of the first kind. It provides a safety net in terms of transfers to people in need, transfers that in Norway increases with prior income. There is a discussion in both rich and poor countries whether transfers should instead by universal. In Norway this may reduce the costs of the welfare state if they replace costly transfers that depend on income. In poor countries universal transfers mean transfers to large groups that today are not targeted, and are thus potentially very costly.

Returning to emergency aid that may be integrated in broad development programs, the latter may have education, health, and food components, including school feeding and agricultural development interventions, as in many of the programs supported by Norway. This implies that they may already have many of the components of well functioning multifaceted development programs. Emergency aid provides insurance in times of need and sustain human capital. To support long-term development in remote places one should consider not only to help people during emergency, but also to target the extreme poor with support over a few years to lift them above subsistence level, and help them with skill training, including in agriculture, and some assets, such as livestock, so that they in the longer term can develop higher earning livelihoods. In the most remote places this means that households combine agricultural activities with small-scale non-farm livelihoods, while some household members migrate for work.

Within all these programs one may prioritize women to strengthen their position within the household. It is essential then to take into account existing power relations, as the husband, or other male family members, can in principle take control over any transfers to the woman. To avoid this, the interventions need to intrinsically improve female empowerment in a way that will be outside his control. Improving her human capital is an important example, which may include primary education for girls and skill training for adolescent and adult women. Interventions can also strengthen women's legal rights with respect to marriage, divorce, property and inheritance rights. Such legal reforms will normally have to be followed by campaigns that target the underlying social norms that in most societies are intertwined with the legal system.

Cleverly designed asset, cash and in-kind transfers that take into account underlying power-structures may strengthen female empowerment. Some of the programs supported by Norway are of this kind. School feeding programs are important for female students, as they are more easily kept out of school. Agricultural development programs that focus on small-scale vegetable production is another example, as this is normally the woman's domain. Vegetables will improve nutrition and give her a potential position as a businesswoman in the local market. When it comes to cash-transfers it is important that women get their own bank accounts. This is no guarantee that they will be able to keep the money out of the husband's control, but will at least give them another means to strengthen their bargaining position within the household.

When it comes to implementation, we find that Norway supports a variety of social safety net programs, ranging from small local NGOs to multilateral organizations such as the WFP. This variation allows for learning across programs during a phase where Norway intends to strengthen its support to social safety nets. Despite the difference in size between programs, both the smaller NGO led programs, as well as the large emergency assistance programs, integrate cash and in-kind

transfers in larger development programs with the aim of also promoting long-term development. The composition of these programs vary with the local context and the aims of the agencies, as we shall expect. This opens up for learning. In that process one will benefit from the recent research on the multifaceted development programs discussed above, which systematically attempt to overcome multiple constraints that poor people meet in remote areas of Sub-Saharan Africa and some parts of South-Asia.

This report is commissioned by Norad as a mapping of Norwegian development assistance in support of social safety nets. It was found that a large share of the support comes in the form of emergency aid via the World Food Program. There has been a transition over time towards more cash transfers, and thus a need for digital solutions in terms of individual accounts and potentially a need for integration with government registers. The mapping was followed by a discussion of selected research findings that may have relevance for the design of Norwegian assistance to safety nets:

- 1) The choice between conditional and unconditional transfers should depend on the aim of the program. If the aim is to relax liquidity constraints, or help people in need, then unconditional transfers is the right choice, but if the aim is also to incentivize people to send their children to school, or utilize health services, then well-designed conditional transfers will be in place.
- 2) In remote areas there may be village level poverty traps where the extreme poor meet multiple constraints, and a combination of interventions is necessary to lift them out of poverty in terms of so-called cash-plus, or multifaceted, development programs.
- 3) A cash transfer will only have an impact on girls' welfare, beyond the effect via increased household income, if it strengthens the female bargaining position within the household. A cash transfer alone may not be sufficient, and the transfers may have to be combined with other policy instruments, such as programs to strengthen female political participation, self-help groups, entrepreneurship programs, female quotas in hiring processes, information campaigns, inheritance rights, and the right to divorce.

Chr. Michelsen Institute (CMI) is an independent, non-profit research institution and a major international centre in policy-oriented and applied development research. Focus is on development and human rights issues and on international conditions that affect such issues. The geographical focus is Sub-Saharan Africa, Southern and Central Asia, the Middle East and Latin America.

CMI combines applied and theoretical research. CMI research intends to assist policy formulation, improve the basis for decision-making and promote public debate on international development issues.

Engage with us

G CMInorway

cmi_no

cmi.no

cmi.no

Contact us

Phone: 47 93 80 00 (from Norway) Phone: +47 55 70 55 65 (from abroad)

cmi@cmi.no www.cmi.no

P.O. Box 6033, N-5892 Bergen, Norway Jekteviksbakken 31, Bergen

